# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES A. ZINGALE, as the	)	
Executive Director of the	)	
Department of Revenue, State	)	
of Florida,	)	
	)	
Petitioner,	)	
	)	
vs.	)	Case No. SC03-1270
	)	LT No. 4D02-3754
ROBERT O. POWELL and	)	
ANN S. POWELL,	)	
	)	
Respondents.	)	
	)	
	′	

TNITTAL BRIDE OF DETITIONED

### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, JAMES A. ZINGALE

On Petition For Review Of A Decision Of The District Court Of Appeal, Fourth District, State of Florida

\_\_\_\_\_\_

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHRISTOPHER M. KISE Solicitor General

LOUIS F. HUBENER Chief Deputy Solicitor General

MARK T. ALIFF Assistant Attorney General

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1992 the electorate of Florida approved the "Save Our Homes" amendment, article VII, section 4(c)(1)-(7), Florida Constitution. The purpose of the amendment is to limit the assessed value of homestead property in the face of rising property values and increasing opportunity for development, and thus to further support the public policy of the state favoring preservation of homesteads.

#### A. Nature of the Case

Petitioner appeals a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal holding that property owners may claim the benefit of the assessment limitation of article VII, section 4, Florida Constitution, notwithstanding the property owners' failure to timely establish their right to a homestead exemption pursuant to article VII, section 6, and the relevant provisions of chapter 196, Florida Statutes.

Article VII, section 4, Florida Constitution, provides in pertinent part:

(c) All persons entitled to a homestead exemption under Section 6 of this Article shall have their homestead assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year following the effective date of this amendment. This assessment shall change only as provided herein. (e.s.)

\* \* \* \*

(c)(4) New homestead property shall be assessed at just value as of January  $1^{\text{st}}$  of the year <u>following the establishment of the homestead</u>. That assessment shall only change as provided herein. (e.s.)

Article VII, section 6(a), Florida Constitution, provides in pertinent part:

Section 6. Homestead exemptions. -

(a) Every person who has the legal or equitable title to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner, or another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner, shall be exempt from taxation thereon, except assessments for special benefits, up to the assessed valuation of five thousand dollars, upon establishment of right thereto in the manner prescribed by law. (e.s.)

Chapter 196, Florida Statutes, prescribes the law governing establishment of the right to an exemption. Its provisions require that any qualifying person who wants to claim the homestead exemption must file an application with the county property appraiser. Section 196.011(1)(a), Florida Statutes, states:

Every person . . . who, on January 1, has the legal title to real . . . property . . . which is entitled by law to exemption from taxation as a result of its ownership and use shall, on or before March 1 of each year, file an application for exemption with the county property appraiser, listing and describing the property for which exemption is claimed and certifying its ownership and use. . . . Failure to make application, when required, on or before March 1 of any year shall constitute a waiver of the exemption privilege for that

year, except as provided in subsection (7) or subsection (8). (e.s)

Subsections (7) and (8) of section 196.011 allow the county Value Adjustment Board to excuse a homeowner's failure to comply with the March 1 filing requirement in certain narrow circumstances.

#### B. The Facts

Robert and Ann Powell, plaintiffs, purchased a home in Broward County in 1990. R 2, ¶ 6. The assessed value of their property in 2000 was \$2,308,270, and in 2001 it rose to \$3,890,990. R 7 (Exh. B). After receiving notice that their ad valorem taxes would increase by more than \$10,000 for the year 2001, the Powells, on September 17, 2001, filed their first-ever application for homestead exemption. R 2-3; R 7 (Exh. B). The homestead exemption was subsequently approved for the year 2001. R 3, ¶ 14. The Powells attributed their failure to apply earlier to "inadvertence and oversight." R 2, ¶ 9.

After unsuccessful proceedings before the Broward County Value Adjustment Board, the Powells sued William Markham, the Broward County Property Appraiser, Judith M. Fink, Director, Broward County Revenue Collection Division, and James A. Zingale, Executive Director, Florida Department of Revenue. R 1-3. Notwithstanding the fact that the Powells had no homestead exemption for the year 2000, the complaint asserted that any increase over the 2000

assessment in excess of 3 percent was contrary to article VII, section 4. R 4, ¶¶ 24-28. The Powells sought a refund of the portion of their taxes in excess of what would have been imposed had the homestead exemption applied to their property in 2000 and thus been subject to the Save Our Homes limitation of article VII, section  $4.^{1}$  R 5.

The defendants answered and asserted several defenses:

- 1. Lack of Jurisdiction Over the Subject Matter defendants contended the action in reality sought a homestead exemption for the year 2000, which the Powells had not timely applied for. Section 194.171(2), Florida Statutes, requires that actions to contest assessments be filed within 60 days of certification of the tax rolls for collection under section 193.122(2), Florida Statutes. The 2000 tax rolls were certified on October 24, 2000, and this action was not filed until July 3, 2002, well past the 60 day filing period. R 15.
- 2. Failure to State a Cause of Action the Powells had admittedly not established their right to a homestead exemption by filing an application for the exemption with the property

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The complaint also complained of certain actions of the Broward County Value Adjustment Board but did not name the Board as a party. R 2,  $\P\P$  12-22. Defendants moved to dismiss for failure to join an indispensable party. R 15, 18. The trial court ruled this motion moot when it entered judgment on the pleadings in favor of the defendants. R 59.

appraiser's office, as required by section 196.011(1)(a), Florida Statutes. R 16.

- 3. Waiver the Powells' failure to timely apply for the homestead exemption for the year 2000 constituted a waiver of the exemption for that year, as provided in section 196.011(1)(a), Florida Statutes. R 17.
- 4. Statutory Bar to Relief section 193.155 provides that homestead property is not entitled to the Save Our Homes limitation until 1995 "or the year following the year the property receives homestead exemption, whichever is later." R 3-4. The Powells did not challenge the validity of section 193.155 in the complaint.

### C. Disposition in the Courts Below

The trial court had no trouble disposing of the Powells' claim, rendering final judgment on the pleadings in favor of defendants. R 56. The court cited <u>Horne v. Markham</u>, 288 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1973), for the proposition that establishment of the right to homestead exemption requires that a timely application be made to the property appraiser. The trial court held that the Powells did not file a timely application for homestead exemption for the year 2000, and therefore their "entitlement" to the 3 percent cap on assessment increases did not begin until 2002, one year <u>after</u> they were found qualified for an exemption for the year 2001. The court ruled that section 193.155 barred their claim, and

found that statute consistent with <u>Horne v. Markham</u>. As noted, the Powells' complaint did not challenge section 193.155.

On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed. Not mentioning section 193.155, and construing only one word of article VII, section 4, the Fourth District held that the Powells were "entitled" to the benefits of article VII, section 4 even though they had not sought a homestead exemption for the year 2000:

[T]he resolution of this case depends on the meaning of the word "entitled" as used in the Save Our Homes provision.

\* \* \*

[W]e conclude that entitlement to a homestead exemption, for the purpose of seeking application of the Save Our Homes cap, is not limited to homeowners that have actually applied for and been granted homestead exemption, but includes all homeowners who qualify for and thus are entitled to homestead exemption.

We reject Defendants' argument that <u>Horne v. Markham</u>, 288 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1973), is controlling here. As set forth in <u>Horne</u>, a property owner seeking a homestead exemption must comply with requirements "prescribed by law," such as filing a timely application. 288 So. 2d at 200. That is not the issue before this court. The Powells do not seek a homestead exemption for the year 2000; they seek application of the Save Our Homes cap to the increase in the assessed value of their

home in that year. Thus, their compliance with the filing requirements of section 196.011 is irrelevant here. <u>See</u> § 196.011, Fla. Stat. (2002).

App. 1-2.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ignores the express reference in article VII, section 4(c) to article VII, section 6. Sections 4(c) and 6 must be read in parimateria. Under section 6, entitlement to a homestead exemption can be established only "in the manner prescribed by law." When these sections are read in parimateria, it is clear there can be no entitlement to the exemption absent the timely filing of an application pursuant to section 196.011(1)(a), Florida Statutes. Horne v. Markham, 288 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1973). The Powells did not file an application for homestead exemption for 2000 and therefore are not entitled to it for that year.

Section 193.155, Florida Statutes, also bars the Powells' claim. That statute reflects the legislature's interpretation of article VII, section 4(c). It directs that the assessment limitation shall be applied to homestead property only after the property receives homestead exemption. Because the Powells did not apply for and receive the exemption until 2001, the assessment limitation does not apply until 2002. As a permissible legislative

interpretation of section 4(c), section 193.155 bars this action.

The Powells' interpretation of article VII, section 4(c) also reflects extraordinarily poor policy. It seeks only to excuse carelessness on their part and to substitute litigation for an orderly application process.

ISSUE II - The Powells brought this suit under authority of section 194.171(2), Florida Statutes, as, ostensibly, a challenge to the 2001 assessment. Section 194.171(2) is a jurisdictional statute of nonclaim. Because the Powells seek to establish their entitlement to a homestead exemption for the year 2000 to make that the base year for applying the assessment limitation, and because the homestead exemption is an integral part of the tax assessment in any given year, they should have challenged the 2000 assessment. Nikolits v. Ballinger, 736 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). They did not, and therefore this action is untimely and barred.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issues I and II present straightforward questions of law. The standard of review is de novo. Execu-Tech Bus. Sys. v. New Oji

Paper Co., 752 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 2000); Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So.

2d 7 (Fla. 2000). No deference is owed the Fourth District's decision.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT ANY HOMEOWNER WHO MAY QUALIFY FOR A HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION IS ENTITLED TO THE BENEFIT OF THE SAVE OUR HOMES CAP WHEN THE HOMEOWNER HAS NOT APPLIED FOR AND BEEN GRANTED A HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION.

The decision of the Fourth District is wrong. There can be no "entitlement" to the benefit of the Save Our Homes cap in the absence of compliance with article VII, section 6 and its implementing statutes. The decision below disregards controlling constitutional language, statutes, and case law, as well as sound policy.

A. Article VII, Section 4(c) Creates No Free-Standing "Entitlement" To The Cap On Assessments.

The Fourth District's construction of the word "entitled" in article VII, section 4(c) finds no support in the constitutional language. In fact, the court simply construed one word of section 4(c)—"entitled"—and ignored other restrictive language. A plain reading of section 4(c) discloses that it creates no entitlement to the cap. Rather, it bestows its benefits only upon "persons entitled to a homestead exemption under Section 6 of this Article.

. . ." The "entitlement" to the exemption under section 6 is limited. A qualifying homeowner is "entitled" to the homestead exemption only "upon establishment of the right thereto in the manner prescribed by law." Art. VII, § 6, Fla. Const. Because the

Powells were not entitled to the exemption for the year 2000, having waived that claim under section 196.011(1)(a), Florida Statutes, they were not entitled to the benefit of the cap for the year 2001.

This Court has previously construed article VII, section 6, in Horne v. Markham, 288 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1973). It held that section 6 establishes no absolute right to a homestead exemption and that any person who fails to follow the "constitutional requirement" to apply for and establish the right "in the manner prescribed by law" cannot be heard to complain of being denied the "dependent right" of that provision. Id. at 199. Clearly, the Powells could not by any legal action have compelled the property appraiser to grant them a homestead exemption for the year 2000 without having filed an application pursuant to section 196.011(1)(a); hence, they simply were not "entitled" to the exemption for that year. The trial court correctly understood that Horne v. Markham meant the Powells, in the words of the amendment, were not "entitled to a homestead exemption under section 6" absent compliance with section 196.011(1)(a). The Fourth District did not.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The reason the constitution (as implemented by chapter 196, Florida Statutes) requires an application process is not difficult to fathom. It provides an orderly framework for a property appraiser to receive timely applications, investigate the applicant's representations, and grant the exemption only to those who qualify. It also provides an orderly and expeditious appeals

The Fourth District's decision to focus only on the word "entitled" violates basic principles of constitutional construction. First, related provisions of the constitution must be construed in pari materia. As this Court held in Burnsed v. Seaboard Coastline R. Co., 290 So. 2d 13, 16 (Fla. 1974):

Construction of the constitution is favored which gives effect to every clause and every part thereof. Unless a different interest is clearly manifested, constitutional provisions are to be interpreted in reference to each other, that is in pari materia, since every provision was inserted with a definite purpose.

This principle carries all the more force when one constitutional provision references another. Here, article VII, section 4(c) explicitly refers to section 6. The Fourth District's failure to even mention section 6 suggests it could not logically reconcile its expansive construction of the word "entitled" with the restrictive language of section 6. Only by ignoring that section could the Fourth District dismiss the statutory requirement of section 196.011(1)(a) as "irrelevant." But that statute cannot be analytically irrelevant because its mandate lies in section 6(a).

Second, courts have no license to disregard the plain language

process for those denied the exemption. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, §§ 196.111, 196.121, 196.131, 196.141, 196.151, 196.161, 196.194, Fla. Stat.

of constitutional provisions. City of St. Petersburg v. Briley, Wild & Associates, Inc., 239 So. 2d 817, 822 (Fla. 1970) ("If the language is clear and not entirely unreasonable or illogical in its operation we have no power to go outside the bounds of the constitutional provision in search of excuses to give a different meaning to words used therein."). There is nothing ambiguous about the "entitled" language and therefore nothing to justify the expansive interpretation given that language by the Fourth District. To the contrary, the word "entitled" is anchored in and bounded by the language of section 6. The Fourth District's assertion that it was simply divining the intent of the framers of the amendment violates this fundamental principle of construction. It is supported neither by the plain language the framers used nor by reference to any history of which the court took note.

The Powells argued below that because article VII, section 4(c) does not define the word "entitled," resort may be had to sections 196.031 and 196.011(1)(a), Florida Statutes, for guidance. Section 196.031, the Powells contend, recognizes an entitlement to a homestead exemption because its use of that word is not connected to an application requirement, while section 196.011(1)(a), they say, simply perpetuates the distinction between those "entitled" to the exemption and those who apply for the exemption. This argument fails under basic principles of statutory construction.

Sections 196.031 and 196.011(1)(a), as related statutes, must be construed in pari materia. Because they are related, it is the Court's duty to read them harmoniously and avoid a construction that places them in conflict. City of Boca Raton v. Gidman, 440 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 1983). Section 196.031 provides that property owners may be entitled to the homestead exemption up to various assessed values. That is all. The fact that section 196.031 does not refer to the application requirement is not relevant here because section 196.011 clearly does. There is no reason why section 196.031 should repeat the requirement.

Construed harmoniously, section 196.031 cannot be said to recognize an "entitlement" to a homestead exemption in the absence of an application therefor when 196.011(1)(a) plainly requires an application. Moreover, Horne v. Markham long ago disposed of the contention that there can be any distinction between those who apply for the exemption and those who are "entitled" to it. No application means no entitlement.

The Powells simply have no claim based on the language of article VII, section 4(c), when that section is read <u>in pari</u> <u>materia</u> with section 6. Because they were not among those "persons entitled to a homestead exemption under section 6 of this Article" for the year 2000, their claim fails. The decision below should therefore be reversed and the judgment of the trial court affirmed.

### B. The Powells' Claim Is Barred by Article VII, Section 4(c)(4), and Section 193.155, Florida Statutes.

The provisions of article VII, section 4 must also be implemented by general law. The introductory paragraph of Article VII, section 4 provides as follows:

### SECTION 4. Taxation; assessments. -

By general law regulations shall be prescribed which shall secure a just valuation of all property for ad valorem taxation,. . . .

Subsection (c) applies to homestead property and provides for the cap on assessments. Subsection (c)(4) provides:

(c)(4) New homestead property shall be assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year following the establishment of the homestead. That assessment shall only change as provided herein.

The Fourth District's construction of the Save Our Homes amendment not only ignores, but contradicts, the language of 4(c)(4) and implementing general law, section 193.155, Florida Statutes.

As the section 4(c) makes clear, persons entitled to the homestead exemption at the time the amendment became effective were to have their homestead assessed at "just value" as of January 1 of the following year. Thereafter, assessments were capped according to the criteria of section 4(c)(1)a. and b. Those persons who had not established their entitlement to the exemption or who acquired homestead property after the effective date of the amendment are

subject to section 4(c)(4). Their property is not assessed for just value and made subject to the assessment limitation until the year after they qualify for the homestead exemption.

Section 193.155, enacted in 1994, makes this explicit:

Homestead property shall be assessed at just value as of January 1, 1994. Property receiving the homestead exemption after January 1, 1994, shall be assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year in which the property receives the exemption. Thereafter, determination of the assessed value of the property is subject to the following provisions:

- (1) Beginning in 1995, or the year following the year the property receives homestead exemption, whichever is later, the property shall be reassessed annually on January 1. Any change resulting from such assessment shall not exceed the lower of the following:
- (a) Three percent of the assessed value for the prior year, or
- (b) The percentage change in the Consumer Price Index . . . for the preceding calendar year . . . . (e.s.)

The Powells' complaint did not challenge the constitutionality of section 193.155. They expressly acknowledged that in their brief to the Fourth District, although in response to the defendants' reliance on the statute they maintained defendants' "interpretation" was unconstitutional because it conflicts with

their interpretation of article VII, section 4(c).3

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