# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES A. ZINGALE, as			
Executive Director of the			
Department of Revenue of			
the State of Florida,			
Petitioner,		Case No. SC03-1270	
		LT No. 4D02-3754	
VS.			
ROBERT O. POWELL and ANN S. POWELL,			
Respondents.	/		

On Petition For Review Of A Decision of The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, State of Florida

RESPONDENTS' AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

\_\_\_\_\_

Harry S. Raleigh, Jr. Fla. Bar # 0164581 Dobbins, Meeks, Raleigh & Dover, LLP P.O. Box 11799 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33339 (954) 565-2200 (954) 565-2233 (fax) Counsel for Respondents

### **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

As did the Property Appraiser in the trial court and before the Fourth DCA, Petitioner and various *Amici Curiae* insist on characterizing the POWELLS' action as an attempt to obtain a homestead exemption for the year 2000, or challenge the

assessment of their property for the year 2000<sup>5</sup>. As such, Petitioner's Brief and, in particular, the Volusia, et. al. Appraisers' Brief engage in the common but logically infirm tactic of conquering legally flawed arguments which Respondent and *Amici* attribute to but were never made by the POWELLS. The flaw of such technique is exemplified in part II. (p. 20) of Petitioners' brief where he makes the practically and legally untenable assertion that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to hear a challenge to the 2001 assessment of the POWELLS' property because MR. & MRS. POWELL, failed to challenge the property appraiser's assessment in 2000, a year before the 2001 assessment was made.

MR. & MRS. POWELL do not now nor have they ever sought to obtain a homestead exemption for the year 2000, or any prior year. MR. & MRS. POWELL applied for and received a homestead exemption for the year 2001. They seek, by this suit, to require the Property Appraiser to apply to the assessment of their property for the year 2001, the limitations on increases to assessed value which are guaranteed by Article VII, Section 4, of the Florida Constitution to all persons **entitled to** a homestead exemption.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Perhaps Petitioner believes that if this statement is repeated often enough it will become the truth. It is not the truth and it is not supported by a shred of paper, testimony or argument within or without the record before this Court.

Article VII, Section 4, contains no requirement that one apply for and receive a homestead exemption for the prior year in order to be eligible for the benefits provided therein. Rather, Article VII, Section 4, limits increases in annual assessments (in this case the year 2001) for all those who were **entitled to** a homestead exemption for the prior year (in this case the year 2000), whether or not they applied for and received their homestead exemption for such prior year.

F.S. § 193.155, contains no bar to the relief Plaintiff's seek. There is no provision in § 193.155, placing any obligation upon or requiring any action by a taxpayer. Section 193.155, merely establishes procedures to govern the manner in which the Property Appraiser must appraise property which has been granted a homestead exemption. It governs the actions of Property Appraisers not the actions of taxpayers.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, and that of various *Amici Curiae*, property appraisers need not guess as to who is entitled to "Save Our Homes" protection. Nor are property appraisers left with no process for determining who is and who is not entitled to "Save Our Homes" protection. Neither are they left with a "sue first" procedure for determining entitlement. F. S. § 194.011 provides a comprehensive non-judicial, administrative process by which taxpayers may bring their claim to 'Save Our Homes' protections to the attention of their local property appraiser.

Section 194.011(1), requires property appraisers to notify taxpayers of the assessment of their property. Under § 194.011(2) a taxpayer who objects to the assessment is given the right to confer informally with the property appraiser's office regarding the assessment.

Taxpayers who are dissatisfied with the result obtained in this informal conference may then avail themselves of the administrative remedy of a petition to the value adjustment board as provided in § 194.011(3). Pursuant to F.S. § 194.011(3)(d), these procedures must be instituted within 25 days of the date the notice of assessment required by § 194.011(1), is mailed to the taxpayer. It is only after resort to these procedures that a taxpayer is required to file suit<sup>6</sup>.

Since this is an action challenging an assessment for the year 2001, and not 2000, it was filed within the time constraints of F.S. § 194.171.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Respondent agrees with Petitioner and The Association that this appeal presents legal issues only and, accordingly, the standard of review is de novo.

#### **ARGUMENT**

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This is not to say that a taxpayer may not institute suit without resort to these administrative remedies, but the taxpayer is not required to do so without first attempting these remedies.

I. THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY HELD THAT A TAXPAYER WHO IS ENTITLED TO Α HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION IS ENTITLED TO THE "SAVE OUR HOMES" PROTECTION OF ARTICLE VII, SECTION 4 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION EVEN THOUGH THE TAXPAYER HAS NOT BEEN GRANTED Α HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION FOR THE PRIOR YEAR.

# A. Article VII, Section 4, imposes no filing requirement, implied or otherwise, for "Save Our Homes" benefits.

When the language of the Article VII, Sections 4 and 6, of the Florida Constitution is analyzed and reviewed in light of the legislative pronouncements contained in Florida Statutes §§ 196.011 and 196.031, it is clear the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal was correct and Article VII, Section 4, of the Constitution imposes no filing requirement upon taxpayers in order for their property to be eligible for "Save Our Homes" protection.

Petitioner's opening salvo in the portion of his argument he characterizes as a description of the "Nature of the Case" forcefully makes Respondents' point. (page 1, Brief of Petitioner) Petitioner quotes from Article VII, Section 4(c), with emphasis on the precise portion of this section that grants Respondents' entitlement to "Save Our Homes" treatment notwithstanding no homestead exemption had been granted for the prior year- "(c) All persons entitled to a homestead exemption under Section 6 of

this Article . . . ." (Emphasis Petitioner's) This section does not require a homestead exemption to be granted in order to be eligible for "Save Our Homes" protection, it guarantees "Save Our Homes" benefits to "All persons entitled to a homestead exemption." More telling is Petitioner's quote from Article VII, Section 4(c)4, appearing on page 2 of his brief - "New homestead property shall be assessed at just value as of January 1st of the year following the establishment of the homestead." (Emphasis Petitioner's) This section does not guarantee "Save Our Homes" benefits to property following the granting of a homestead exemption, rather it guarantees those benefits following the establishment of a homestead.

The POWELLS' argument is driven home by Petitioner's reference to F.S. § 196.011(1)(a), which declares that persons who own property which is **entitled to** a homestead exemption waive the homestead exemption if they do not apply for same. As such, this section makes the clear distinction between property **entitled to** a homestead exemption and property that did not receive an exemption because it was waived by the homeowner. In both cases the taxpayer was **entitled to** the exemption. As quoted by Petitioner § 196.011(1)(a), states:

"Every person . . . who, on January 1, has the legal title to real . . . property . . . which is entitled by law to exemption from taxation as a result of its ownership and use shall on or before March 1 of each year, file an application for exemption with the county property appraiser. . . ."

(Emphasis added).

This language could hardly be more clear in its expression that property may, as a matter of law, be entitled to a homestead exemption by reason of its ownership and use but not obtain that exemption if no application is made. It is apparent that the legislature appreciated the distinction between an "entitlement to" a homestead exemption and the granting of same.

In analyzing this issue it is important to keep in mind that Article VII, Sections 4 and 6, of the Florida Constitution provide separate and distinct benefits to Florida taxpayers. Section 6, provides an exemption from taxation. Section 4, is not an exemption provision but an assessment provision which places a limitation on the authority of Property Appraisers to increase the assessed value of property from one year to the next. The only requirement imposed by Section 4, is that the person who owns the property must have been **entitled to a homestead exemption** for the prior year. Section 4, contains no application or filing requirement. Nor does Section 4, contain any requirement that a homestead exemption be granted.

Article VII, Section 4, of the Florida Constitution extends "Save Our Homes" treatment to "All persons **entitled to** a homestead exemption under Section 6" of Article VII. (Emphasis added)

Article VII, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution provides: "Every person who

has the legal title . . . to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner . . . shall be exempt from taxation . . . upon establishment of right thereto in the manner prescribed by law."

Section 6, limits entitlement to those who own real property and maintain their permanent residence thereon and further provides that the exemption commences when the right is established in the manner prescribed by law.

As observed by Petitioner in his citation to *City of St. Petersburg v. Briley*, *Wild & Associates, Inc.*, 239 So 2d 817, 822 (Fla. 1970), where language of a constitutional provision is clear and not unreasonable or illogical the court should not go outside the constitution to change its meaning. Yet it is the Petitioner who would have this Court go outside the plain language of Article VII, Section 4, to add a requirement that a homestead exemption be applied for and granted in order for property to receive "Save Our Homes" protection when all that is required by the plain language of the Constitution is that the taxpayer be "entitled to" a homestead exemption.

If, however, one is to look outside the plain language of the Constitution, Respondent agrees with Petitioner's citation to *Agency for Health Care Admin. v. Associated Industries*, 678 So. 2d 1239, 1247(Fla 1996); *Greater Loretta Imp. Ass'n. v. State, ex rel. Boone*, 234 So. 2d (Fla. 1970) and *Brown v. Firestone*, 382 So. 2d

654, 671 (Fla. 1980) for the proposition that legislative construction of constitutional provisions is instructive.

Article VII, Section 4, of the Constitution does not define the phrase "entitled to" and Article VII, Section 6, does not even use the phrase "entitled to." We do, however, find guidance in the legislative pronouncements embodied in Florida Statutes §§ 196.031 and 196.011.

Florida Statutes § 196.031(1), declares, "Every person who, on January 1, has the legal title . . . to real property in this state and who resides thereon and in good faith makes the same his or her permanent residence . . . is entitled to an exemption. . . "This section does not require one to apply for and receive the homestead exemption in order to be entitled to the exemption. Rather, the statute defines those entitled to a homestead exemption as those who own property upon which they maintain their permanent residence. MR. & MRS. POWELL have owned the property for which they seek "Save Our Homes" treatment and have maintained their permanent residence thereon since June 22, 1990. The POWELLS were, therefore, entitled to a homestead exemption even though they failed to apply for a homestead exemption for the year 2000.

This distinction between entitlement to a homestead exemption and the actual grant of same is again emphasized in Florida Statutes § 196.011, which states all

persons who own property "entitled by law to exemption" shall file an application with the property appraiser. The failure to file such application merely constitutes a waiver of the exemption privilege for that year. It does not affect the eligibility of the property for the exemption in such year. This statute clearly assumes one's property may be entitled to an exemption without applying for it. It is only the exemption which is waived if no application is made, not the "Save Our Homes" assessment cap which, under the Constitution, is available to all who are entitled to a homestead exemption. Indeed, the waiver of a homestead exemption for a particular year has no affect upon whether the parties owned and resided on the property as their primary residence, the only two requirements set forth in Article VII, Section 6, for entitlement to the exemption.

In F.S. § 196.011(1)(a), the legislature provided:

Every person or organization who, on January 1, has the legal title to real or personal property, except inventory, which is entitled by law to exemption from taxation as a result of its ownership and use shall, on or before March 1 of each year, file an application for exemption with the county property appraiser . . . .

This is followed by F.S. § 196.011(8) which provides, in pertinent part:

Any applicant who is <u>qualified to receive</u> an exemption under subsection (1) and who fails to file an application by March 1, may file an application for the exemption and may file pursuant to s. 194.011(3), a petition

with the value adjustment board requesting that the exemption be granted.

\* \* \*

Upon reviewing the petition, if the person is <u>qualified to</u> <u>receive</u> the exemption and demonstrates particular extenuating circumstances judged by the property appraiser or the value adjustment board to warrant the exemption, the property appraiser or the value adjustment board may <u>grant</u> <u>the exemption</u>. (emphasis added)

This section precisely identifies persons "qualified to receive an exemption" because they hold "the legal title to real . . . property . . . which is entitled by law to exemption from taxation as a result of its ownership and use" but have not been granted an exemption because they did not timely file an application.

Had the drafters of Article VII, Section 4, intended "Save Our Homes" benefits to be limited only to those who had been granted a homestead exemption in the prior year, Section 4 (c) would read "All persons who have been granted a homestead exemption under Section 6 . . . ." rather than "All persons entitled to a homestead exemption under Section 6 . . . ."

Nor is *Horne v. Markham*, 288 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1973) instructive with regard to the procedures that must be followed to avail onself of "Save Our Homes" benefits. *Horne* was an action seeking to obtain a homestead exemption. It was not nor could it have been a case construing entitlement to "Save Our Homes" benefits under Article VII, section 4 of the constitution. *Horne* was decided nearly 20 years before "Save

Our Homes" even existed. The insistence of Petitioner and various *Amici* that *Horne* is in any way dispositive of this action is the equivalent of the POWELLS arguing that they are entitled to the assessment cap provided by the "Save Our Homes" for all the years they owned and resided on thier property before the "Save Our Homes" amendment was adopted. The POWELLS agree one cannot be granted a homestead exemption without applying for one. That is all that *Horne* held. *Horne* did not and could not possibly shed any light on the assessment cap guaranteed by Article VII, Section 4, of the Constitution which was not adopted until nearly 20 years after *Horne* was decided.

THE ASSOCIATION argues that because Article VII, Section 4(c)3, requires reassessment after a change of ownership and Section 4(c)6, speaks to a termination of homestead status, the only way homestead status could be terminated is by the failure to file an application for same. Based on the forgoing, THE ASSOCIATION argues there must be a filing requirement implied in Article VII, Section 4. This argument is unsound for two reasons.

First, sub-paragraph 6 must be read in conjunction with subsection (c) which speaks to "[a]ll persons **entitled to** a homestead exemption" (emphasis added) not all persons who have applied for and received a homestead exemption. That is to say, the phrase "homestead status" appearing in subparagraph 6 can only refer to an

entitlement to homestead as used in subsection (c). Section 4(c) refers to property owned by persons **entitled to** a homestead exemption under Section 6. It does not refer to property owned by persons who have applied for and received a homestead exemption. There is no filing required in order for property to become <u>entitled to</u> a homestead exemption. The homestead status of a person's property is not determined by filing or failing to file for the homestead tax exemption. Homestead status under Section 4(c) is determined by ownership and residency.

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